THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
FEB 15 2018
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002241
Civil Action No. 2017-CP-10-03130

Stephanie Walker Weaver,.....Respondent,

v.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., HBP LeaseCo, LLC
d/b/a Brookdale Charleston, Terri Robinson,
John Does and Richard Roe Corporations, Defendants,

Of whom Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., HBP LeaseCo, LLC
d/b/a Brookdale Charleston, and Terri Robinson are the Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

OF COUNSEL:

Richard A. Simpson (pro hac vice pending)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Plaintiff Stephanie Walker Weaver brought this action against Defendants Brookdale Senior Living, HBP LeaseCo, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Charleston, *et al.*, arising out of the death of her grandmother, Bonnie Walker, who wandered from her Brookdale residence and was killed by an alligator. Ms. Weaver alleges she discovered her grandmother's remains. In a separate action, Ms. Walker's Estate asserted and settled a wrongful death action against Brookdale. The Residency Agreement between Brookdale and Ms. Walker includes an arbitration agreement, which broadly requires arbitration of any disputes arising from the Residency Agreement, including claims brought by relatives or other third parties.

Ms. Weaver asserts claims for negligence, negligent infliction of emotional distress, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. The following issues are presented on appeal.

1. (a) The wrongful death statute provides the exclusive remedy for negligent acts causing a decedent's death. Bonnie Walker's Estate asserted and settled a wrongful death claim. Ms. Weaver has not alleged any duty Brookdale owed to her, as opposed to her grandmother.

(b) A claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress lies only for "bystander liability," and requires that the plaintiff was in close proximity to and contemporaneously perceived the event causing death or serious injury to another. Ms. Weaver does not allege that she was in close proximity to her grandmother when the alligator attack occurred, or that she contemporaneously perceived the attack.

(c) To prevail on a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, a plaintiff must establish that the defendant engaged in outrageous conduct specifically directed at the plaintiff, intending to cause emotional distress. Ms. Weaver has not alleged any facts that could support a

finding of intentional conduct by Brookdale, let alone that any such conduct was directed specifically at her.

Did the trial court err by denying Brookdale's motion to dismiss Ms. Weaver's negligence, and negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress claims?

2. A non-party to a contract may be bound by the contract's arbitration provision if the non-party simultaneously seeks to benefit from other terms of the agreement. The Residency Agreement "binds third parties not signatories to this Arbitration Provision." Ms. Weaver is pursuing claims against Brookdale that rely on duties it purportedly owed under the Residency Agreement. Did the trial court err in refusing to enforce the Arbitration Provision?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Weaver initiated this action in the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County on June 19, 2017. (Pl.'s Compl.) She alleges claims against Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., HBP LeaseCo, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Charleston and Terri Robinson (together, "Brookdale"), along with unnamed "Doe" and "Roe" defendants, for negligence, negligent infliction of emotional distress, and intentional infliction of emotional distress, in connection with the death of her grandmother, Bonnie Walker, who wandered from her Brookdale residence and was killed by an alligator. (*Id.*) Following the accident, Ms. Walker's Estate asserted wrongful death and survival claims against Brookdale, which Brookdale promptly resolved through a pre-suit settlement that was then approved by the Charleston County Probate Court. (*See* Case No. 2016-ES-10-1807 (the "Wrongful Death Settlement"); Trial Tr. R. 20:24-21:6, Aug. 31, 2017.)¹ Ms. Weaver filed this separate action, purporting to assert her own claims arising out of Ms. Walker's death. (*See generally* Pl.'s Compl.)

On July 19, 2017, Brookdale moved to dismiss Ms. Weaver's complaint pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b) or, in the alternative, to compel arbitration. (Defs.' Mot. Dismiss or Compel Arbitration ("Defs.' Mot.")). In its motion to dismiss, Brookdale argued that Ms. Weaver's negligence claim is barred because South Carolina's wrongful death statute provides the exclusive remedy, and the wrongful death and survival claims had been asserted and settled. (*Id.* ¶¶ 3-4. *See also* Mem. Supp. Defs.' Mot. Dismiss or Compel

¹ The Court should take judicial notice of the wrongful death pre-suit settlement approved by the Charleston County Probate Court. *See* Rule 201(f), SCRE ("Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of the proceeding."); *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Janice C.*, 383 S.C. 221, 227, 678 S.E.2d 463, 467 (Ct. App. 2009) (facts subject to judicial notice are those whose "accuracy may be ascertained by reference to readily available sources of indisputable reliability"); *Freeman v. McBee*, 280 S.C. 490, 494, 313 S.E.2d 325, 327 (Ct. App. 1984) ("A court can take judicial notice of its own records, files and proceedings.").

Arbitration (“Defs.’ Reply”) 4-6.) Brookdale further asserted that Ms. Weaver failed to allege that Brookdale breached any independent duty of care owed to her and, as such, failed to plead adequately any separate claim of negligence. (Defs.’ Mot. ¶ 4; Defs.’ Reply 6.)

Brookdale also sought dismissal of Ms. Weaver’s claims for negligent infliction of emotional distress and intentional infliction of emotional distress. (Defs.’ Mot. ¶¶ 5-6; Defs.’ Reply 7.) Brookdale asserted that Ms. Weaver’s complaint failed to allege facts to support a claim for bystander liability, which is the sole theory of negligent infliction of emotional distress recognized under South Carolina law, because she did not and could not allege that she was in close proximity to the accident when it occurred or that she perceived the incident contemporaneously. (Defs.’ Mot. ¶ 5; Defs.’ Reply 7-8.) With respect to the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim, Brookdale asserted that Ms. Weaver failed to allege any facts establishing that Brookdale directed its actions at her with the intent to cause her severe emotional distress, as is required to state a legally cognizable claim under established South Carolina law. (Defs.’ Mot. ¶ 6; Defs.’ Reply 8-9.)

Brookdale also moved in the alternative to compel arbitration under the arbitration provision (the “Arbitration Provision”) set forth in Section V of the Residency Agreement that Ms. Walker entered into with Brookdale before moving into the facility (the “Residency Agreement”). (Defs.’ Mot. ¶¶ 7-12; Defs.’ Reply 9-14.)

Ms. Weaver opposed Brookdale’s motion. She argued that her negligence claim is distinct from the already resolved wrongful death claim. (Pl.’s Resp. Opp’n Defs.’ Mot. Dismiss or Compel Arbitration (“Pl.’s Opp.”) 3-5.) Ms. Weaver further asserted that her negligent infliction of emotional distress claim derives from her discovery of Ms. Walker’s remains, and she contends that this after-the-fact discovery provides a sufficient basis to sustain her claim.

(*Id.* at 6.) Finally, Ms. Weaver summarily disputed, without any explanation, Brookdale's argument that her complaint fails to allege facts sufficient to support a viable claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress. (*Id.* at 7.) With respect to Brookdale's motion, in the alternative, to compel arbitration, Ms. Weaver argued that she could not be compelled to arbitrate her claims, based solely on the fact that she was a nonsignatory to the Residency Agreement that contains the Arbitration Provision. (*Id.* at 8-9.)

The trial court heard oral argument on Brookdale's motion on August 31, 2017. (*See* Trial Tr. R.) On September 28, 2017, the trial court entered an Order denying Brookdale's motion to dismiss and to compel arbitration. (Order Den. Defs.' Mot. Dismiss and Compel Arbitration ("September 28 Order").) The trial court concluded: (1) Ms. Weaver's complaint adequately stated claims for relief (*id.* at 2), and (2) the Arbitration Provision could not be enforced as to Ms. Weaver because she was not a signatory to the Residency Agreement and no facts supported any theory under which she could be bound by its terms (*id.*). This timely appeal followed. (*See* Notice of Appeal.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The complaint alleges that Ms. Walker began residing at Brookdale, an assisted living facility located in Charleston, South Carolina, on June 4, 2016. (Pl.'s Compl. ¶¶ 17-18.)² Shortly before her residency began at Brookdale, Ms. Walker, through her adult children who held power of attorney on her behalf, entered into a binding Residency Agreement with Brookdale. (Def's Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. A.)

The comprehensive Residency Agreement governed the relationship between Ms. Walker and Brookdale. (*Id.*) In particular, the Residency Agreement outlines in detail the services that

² Brookdale accepts the allegations of the complaint as true for purposes of its motion to dismiss only.

Brookdale agreed to provide to Ms. Walker as a resident. (*Id.*, Section I, outlining “Services and Accommodations.”) The Residency Agreement expressly distinguishes those services that are considered “Basic” and included in the “Basic Service Rate,” from those services that could be provided for an additional cost, depending on the resident’s individualized needs. (*See id.*) The Residency Agreement specifies that Basic Services do *not* include 24-hour supervision or one-on-one assistance, and confirms that there could be short and long periods of time in which the resident would be left alone. (*See id.*, Section VI.C.4, Risk Agreement.) Per the terms of the Residency Agreement, any additional services that Brookdale agreed to provide for an additional cost were to be set forth separately in an Exhibit to the Residency Agreement. (*See id.*, Sections I.B. and I.C.)

The Residency Agreement also includes a broadly-worded Arbitration Provision, mandating arbitration of all disputes that in any way relate to Ms. Walker’s stay at Brookdale:

Any and all claims or controversies arising out of, or in any way relating to, this Agreement or any of your stays at the Community, excluding any action for involuntary transfer or discharge or eviction, and including disputes regarding interpretation, scope, enforceability, unconscionability, waiver, preemption and/or violability of this Agreement, whether arising out of State or Federal law, whether existing or arising in the future, whether for statutory, compensatory or punitive damages and whether sounding in breach of contract, tort, or breach of statutory duties, irrespective of the basis for the duty or the legal theories upon which the claim is asserted, shall be submitted to binding arbitration, as provided below, and shall not be filed in a court of law. The parties to this Agreement further understand that a judge and/or jury will not decide their case.

(*Id.*, Section V(A)(1).)

Significantly, the Arbitration Provision to which Ms. Walker agreed expressly applies to claims by her family members, including Ms. Weaver (Ms. Walker’s adult granddaughter), regardless of whether Ms. Weaver asserts claims in a representative capacity or, as here, in her personal capacity:

This Arbitration Provision binds third parties not signatories to this Arbitration Provision, including any spouse, children, heir, representatives, agents, executors, administrators, successors, family members, or other persons claiming through the Resident, or persons claiming through the Resident's estate, whether such third parties make a claim in a representative capacity or in a personal capacity. Any claims or grievances against the Community or the Community's corporate parent, subsidiaries, affiliates, employees, officers or directors shall also be subject to and resolved in accordance with this Arbitration Provision.

(Id., Section V(A)(14).)

Ms. Walker allegedly wandered from her residence at Brookdale in the early morning hours of July 27, 2016. (Pl.'s Compl. ¶ 23.) Upon discovering her disappearance, Brookdale employees promptly notified Ms. Walker's family and began searching for her. (*Id.* ¶¶ 24-25.) Brookdale had not yet located Ms. Walker when Ms. Weaver and other family members arrived at Brookdale to assist in the search. (*Id.* ¶¶ 21, 26-27.) Ms. Weaver asserts that she joined the search effort and eventually located her grandmother's remains in a retention pond allegedly located at the rear portion of Brookdale's property. (*Id.* ¶¶ 27-29.) Ms. Walker appeared to have been killed by an alligator. (*Id.* ¶ 29.)

Ms. Weaver alleges that Brookdale was aware of Ms. Walker's diminished capacity and history of wandering and sleep-walking, and that it therefore had a duty to monitor Ms. Walker to prevent her from exiting her residence. (*Id.* ¶ 30.) Ms. Weaver further avers that Brookdale knew or should have known that alligators were present in the retention pond such that the pond posed a hazardous and dangerous condition to Brookdale residents, including Ms. Walker. (*Id.*) Ms. Weaver alleges that Brookdale's failure to properly supervise and monitor Ms. Walker resulted in her accidental death. (*Id.*) Ms. Weaver further claims that, as a result of finding her grandmother's remains, she suffered "severe personal and emotional distress and injury," as well as "physical injury and harm." (*Id.* ¶¶ 32, 41.) Based on these allegations, Ms. Weaver asserts

causes of action against Brookdale for negligence, negligent infliction of emotional distress, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. (*See generally* Pl's Compl., Causes of Action.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal presents straightforward questions of law based on the facts as alleged in Ms. Weaver's complaint. Accepting those facts as true, Ms. Weaver has failed to state any valid claim against Brookdale. As an initial matter, the trial court's denial of Brookdale's motion to dismiss is immediately appealable to this Court as a companion issue to the trial court's simultaneous refusal to compel arbitration. This Court may, in its discretion, review interlocutory orders not ordinarily appealable, such as orders denying motions to dismiss, when they are companion to reviewable issues, such as orders refusing to compel arbitration. The trial court here denied Brookdale's motion to dismiss and motion to compel arbitration in a single order (*see* September 28 Order), and the Residency Agreement containing the Arbitration Clause is the basis for any obligations and duties Brookdale might have had in connection with Ms. Walker's death. Further, this Court's review of the motion to dismiss together with the motion to compel arbitration could eliminate the need for further proceedings or, at least, narrow the issues for trial.

Turning to the merits, Brookdale acted quickly and responsibly in resolving the Estate's wrongful death claim. Ms. Weaver has filed this separate lawsuit, contending that she is entitled to additional recovery from Brookdale for Ms. Walker's wrongful death. As a matter of law, Ms. Weaver has not and cannot allege facts sufficient to state a legally cognizable claim against Brookdale.

Where a family member alleges that a defendant's negligent acts caused the death of another family member, her sole remedy lies in the wrongful death statute, which requires the

wrongful death claim be brought by the personal representative of the decedent's estate. Under any fair reading of Ms. Weaver's complaint, this is the exact basis for her "negligence" cause of action, which is duplicative of the previously resolved wrongful death claim. Ms. Weaver fails to allege any facts sufficient to support a finding that Brookdale owed her any legal duty separate and independent from its duties to Ms. Walker. Consequently, Ms. Weaver has no basis for any "independent" claim of negligence against Brookdale.

Ms. Weaver's alleged claim of "negligence" is in substance a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress. Ms. Weaver asserts that Brookdale failed to supervise Ms. Walker properly, that as a result Ms. Walker wandered into a dangerous area and was killed, and that Ms. Weaver suffered emotional distress when she later discovered Ms. Walker's remains.

Under established South Carolina law, however, the only recognized form of negligent infliction of emotional distress is for bystander liability, which applies only where the plaintiff was in close proximity to, and contemporaneously perceived, circumstances resulting in the death of a close family member. Ms. Weaver has not and cannot allege that either of these elements is present here, since she acknowledges that she did not observe the alligator attack on Ms. Walker.

To establish a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, a plaintiff must establish that the defendant engaged in outrageous conduct specifically directed at the plaintiff intending to cause emotional distress. Here, there are no allegations whatsoever that Brookdale engaged in intentionally wrongful conduct of any sort in connection with Ms. Walker's death. To the contrary, the allegations uniformly sound in negligence. Likewise, there are not and cannot in these circumstances be any allegation that Brookdale specifically directed any actions

toward Ms. Weaver intending to cause her emotional distress. The intentional infliction of emotional distress claim therefore fails as a matter of law.

Alternatively, if any of Ms. Weaver's claims can survive a motion to dismiss, those claims must proceed through arbitration. The Residency Agreement between Ms. Walker and Brookdale mandates arbitration of any claims in connection with Ms. Walker's residency at Brookdale. That Agreement applies broadly to include claims by family members brought in any capacity. Ms. Weaver, who relies on duties created by the Residency Agreement in asserting her claims against Brookdale, is estopped from selectively rejecting the Agreement's arbitration requirement. Accordingly, Ms. Weaver must be compelled to arbitrate any claims that remain following this Court's resolution of Brookdale's motion to dismiss.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court erred in denying Brookdale's motion to dismiss Ms. Weaver's claims because the complaint fails to allege facts sufficient to state a claim for relief.**
 - A. **This Court reviews de novo the trial court's denial of Brookdale's motion to dismiss.**

The trial court's denial of Brookdale's motion to dismiss presents issues of law, which this Court reviews *de novo*. See *Grimsley v. S.C. Law Enf't Div.*, 396 S.C. 276, 281, 721 S.E.2d 423, 426 (2012) (appeal of denial of motion to dismiss); *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014) (appeal of denial of motion to compel arbitration).

In reviewing a trial court's decision denying a Rule 12(b) motion to dismiss, like the trial court, this Court examines whether "the plaintiff has failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action in the pleadings filed with the court." *Ashley River Props. I, LLC v. Ashley River Props. II, LLC*, 374 S.C. 271, 277, 648 S.E.2d 295, 298 (Ct. App. 2007). See also *Grimsley*, 396 S.C. at 281, 721 S.E.2d at 426; *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007).

A court asks “whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” *Plyler v. Burns*, 373 S.C. 637, 645, 647 S.E.2d 188, 192 (2007). *See also Doe*, 373 S.C. at 395, 645 S.E.2d at 247.

B. The trial court’s denial of Brookdale’s motion to dismiss is immediately appealable as a companion issue to the court’s corresponding denial of the motion to compel arbitration.

As a threshold matter, under South Carolina law, the trial court’s denial of Brookdale’s motion to dismiss is immediately appealable to this Court, as a companion matter to the denial of Brookdale’s motion to compel arbitration.

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