THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-002241

RECEIVED
AUG 08 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Stephanie Walker Weaver,.....Respondent,

v.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., HBP LeaseCo, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Charleston, Terri Robinson,
John Does, and Richard Roe Corporations,Defendants,

Of whom Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., HBP LeaseCo, LLC d/b/a Brookdale Charleston, and
Terri Robinson are theAppellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kenneth L. Connor, SC Bar No. 100298
C. Caleb Connor, SC Bar No. 100517
CONNOR & CONNOR, LLC
224 Park Avenue SE
Aiken, SC 29801
Phone: (803) 226-0543

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

ARGUMENT

The lower court correctly held Weaver pled valid causes of action and her claims are not subject to arbitration. Appellants attempt to contort the allegations of the case by viewing them

through the lens of the injuries to Mrs. Walker and the negligence related to her death. However, Weaver brings this case for her own injuries based on Appellants' conduct towards her. Therefore, the relevant inquiry is the allegations related to Weaver and her damages.

Weaver is not subject to arbitration because, among other reasons, she did not sign the agreement. Her claims do not fall within the terms or scope of the arbitration agreement because she does not make a claim through Mrs. Walker, does not seek to enforce or benefit from the residency agreement, and may bring her claims in the absence of the residency agreement. Further, Appellants' conduct falls within the outrageous and unforeseeable exception to arbitration. For any one of these reasons, the Court should affirm the lower court's decision.

I. The Wrongful Death Statute is Not the Exclusive Remedy for Weaver because She Does Not Assert a Wrongful Death Claim and the Statute Provides No Remedy to Her

This case does not present a wrongful death action. The wrongful death statute and the law interpreting and related to it are not applicable to this action. Therefore, this Court should affirm the lower court's denial of Appellants' motion to dismiss on this issue.

Weaver is not a wrongful death beneficiary. A wrongful death action "shall be for the benefit of the wife or husband and child or children of the person whose death shall have been so caused, and, if there be no such wife, husband, child or children, then for the benefit of the parent or parents, and if there be none such, then for the benefit of the heirs of the person whose death shall have been so caused." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-20 (2005). Mrs. Walker died with children alive, including Weaver's father, so they are her statutory beneficiaries. Weaver, as her grandchild, is not a statutory wrongful death beneficiary. Therefore, the wrongful death statute provides no remedy whatsoever to Weaver. *See Burroughs v. Worsham*, 352 S.C. 382, 406, 574 S.E.2d 215, 227 (Ct. App. 2002) (finding "a plaintiff's verdict on wrongful death and a defense verdict on loss of consortium" are not inconsistent since "the parties benefiting from the actions may be separate

and distinct. Only the spouse may bring a loss of consortium claim. However, the spouse, children, parents, or other heirs may be the beneficiaries of the wrongful death award.”).

Judge Duffy affirmed this principle in *White v. United States*, 907 F. Supp. 2d 703 (D.S.C. 2012), when he held that, under South Carolina law, “Plaintiff’s claims for loss of consortium and wrongful death are separate and distinct. Both the beneficiaries of the causes of action and the purposes of those causes of action are different. Only the spouse may bring a loss of consortium claim, while any heirs to an estate may be the beneficiaries of the wrongful death award. As such, the parties who may benefit from such an award are separate, and deserve compensation for the effect the injury had upon them.” *Id.* at 708. Therefore, the law is that a wrongful death claim is not always the exclusive remedy for an injury related to the loss of a family member. In this case, the personal representative of Mrs. Walker’s Estate could not have brought Weaver’s claims or made any recovery on her behalf. The wrongful death statute cannot be Weaver’s exclusive remedy when it is no remedy at all.

Weaver also does not seek the damages of a wrongful death beneficiary. First, she is not a beneficiary. *See Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 304, 536 S.E.2d 408, 421 (Ct. App. 2000) (“In a wrongful death case, the issue of damages is not directed toward the value of the human life that was lost, but rather the **damages sustained by the beneficiaries** as a result of the death.” (emphasis added)). Second, Weaver seeks damages for the personal horror she suffered due to finding her grandmother’s dismembered body floating in an alligator pond. *See* R. p. 8, ¶ 29 (“Plaintiff was shocked and horrified to find the remains of her grandmother’s body floating in the pond where it had been dismembered by an alligator.”). She does not seek the “[d]amages recoverable in a wrongful death action [that] include: (1) pecuniary loss; (2) mental shock and suffering; (3) wounded feelings; (4) grief and sorrow; (5) loss of companionship; and (6) deprivation of the use

and comfort of the intestate's society, including the loss of his experience, knowledge, and judgment in managing the affairs of himself and of his beneficiaries." *Welch*, 342 S.C. at 304, 536 S.E.2d at 421. Rather, Weaver alleges independent, personal injuries caused by Appellants' failure "to act to prevent the horrific discovery of Plaintiff Bonnie Walker's dismembered remains in the retention pond" and their "mishandling, mistreating, and failing to safeguard the human remains of Bonnie Walker." (R. p. 10, ¶ 38, p. 13, ¶ 53).

"The character of an action is primarily determined by the allegations contained in the complaint." *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n v. Clear View Constr., LLC*, 413 S.C. 615, 620, 776 S.E.2d 426, 429 (Ct. App. 2015) (internal quotation marks omitted). Appellants should not be permitted to contort the allegations of Weaver's Complaint to their advantage. "It is well established that the plaintiff is the master of his complaint." *Chavis v. Fid. Warranty Servs.*, 415 F. Supp. 2d 620, 627 (D.S.C. 2006) (internal quotation marks omitted). Weaver's Complaint seeks damages separate and independent from wrongful death damages.

Appellants cite to *Ballard v. Ballard*, 314 S.C. 40, 443 S.E.2d 802 (1994) for the proposition that Weaver's damages "are directly akin to those recoverable for a wrongful death action." (Br. of App. p. 16). However, Appellants omit that *Ballard* states "[d]amages recoverable for wrongful death are the **damages sustained by the statutory beneficiaries** resulting from the death of the decedent." *Ballard*, 314 S.C. at 41-42, 443 S.E.2d at 802 (emphasis added). As noted above, Weaver is not a wrongful death beneficiary. Further, she seeks damages for her personal suffering as a result of finding her grandmother's mauled body in an alligator pond. This is separate and distinct from the damage of the death of her grandmother.

Finally, Appellants do not cite to a single case that states the remedy of a family member of a decedent for any claim related to the death is limited to a wrongful death action. As noted

above, that is not the law of South Carolina. *See White*, 907 F. Supp. 2d at 708; *Burroughs*, 352 S.C. at 406, 574 S.E.2d at 227. Appellants cite only to cases that state a personal representative is the person who may assert a wrongful death claim² and a wrongful death action is the exclusive remedy for damages due to a death.³ (Br. of App. p. 14). These cases do not in any way prohibit Weaver's case.

This case does not involve a wrongful death action, and the Court should affirm the lower court's holding on this issue.

II. Weaver States a Negligence Claim by Adequately Pleading Allegations of a Duty that Appellants Owed to Her

The lower court correctly held Weaver sufficiently pled a negligence cause of action. Appellants challenge only whether Weaver asserts a duty owed to her. (Br. of App. p. 16). Taking the allegations pled as true and drawing all inferences in Weaver's favor, the Complaint alleges a claim for Appellants' negligence as to Weaver, including a duty owed specifically to her.

² *See Roberts v. Bodison*, C/A No. 2:14-cv-00750-MGL-MGB, 2015 U.S. Dist. Lexis 189433 (D.S.C. 2015) (finding by a magistrate in a report and recommendation that children of decedent who are not appointed as personal representative of the estate cannot assert a wrongful death claim); *Glenn v. E.I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co.*, 254 S.C. 128, 136, 174 S.E.2d 155, 159 (1970) (dismissing a wrongful death action where the decedent's wife was discharged as the estate administratrix before filing the wrongful death action and, therefore, "there was no one qualified to bring suit under the wrongful death statute").

³ *See Green v. Southern R. Co.*, 319 F. Supp. 919 (D.S.C. 1970) (finding the decedent's wife could not state a separate claim for loss of consortium after his death because recovery for this is included under the wrongful death statute); *Banks v. Medical Univ. of S.C.*, 314 S.C. 376, 379-80, 444 S.E.2d 519, 521 (1994) (holding mother of minor decedent could not bring claim for breach of implied contract arising from alleged failure to provide medical treatment and "[f]urther" noting the wrongful death statute provides the "exclusive remedy" for the mother "herself"); *Dickey v. Clarke Nursing Home*, Op. No. 2007-UP-344 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 29, 2007), 2007 WL 8327928, *7-8 (holding an attorney on interim suspension, could not represent the estate of his mother because only a lawyer can represent an estate and its beneficiaries in court, and a PR may bring a negligence claim under the survival statute but an individual may not when he may recover under a wrongful death claim). *Dickey* is an unpublished opinion that has "no precedential value and should not be cited except in proceedings in which [it is] directly involved". Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR.

Appellants' discussion of the allegations in the Complaint omits numerous pertinent allegations. *Id.* at pp. 17-18. Weaver alleges, in part, as follows:

- “Prior to conducting an appropriate search and taking other measures to locate Bonnie Walker, Defendants notified her family of the disappearance.”
- “As Defendants had not yet located her grandmother, Plaintiff began searching the property, walking to the rear of the facility towards a retention pond.”
- “Upon information and belief, the retention pond and immediately surrounding area were under the control of Defendants.”
- “As she walked closer to the pond, Plaintiff was shocked and horrified to find the remains of her grandmother’s body floating in the pond where it had been dismembered by an alligator.”
- “Defendants knew or should have known that: . . . Family members notified that Bonnie Walker was missing, including Plaintiff, would actively search the property for her; and The search conducted by family members, including Plaintiff, would likely include the retention pond area.”
- “Defendants had a duty to use reasonable care in the operation of Brookdale Charleston, and in accordance with all laws . . . industry standards, customs, and practices regarding the ownership and operation of such a facility.”
- “Defendants were negligent . . . and breached their duties by failing to maintain property subject to their control in a reasonably safe condition, failing to correct dangerous conditions of which Defendants were aware or should have been aware of in the exercise of reasonable care, and failing to warn Plaintiff of dangerous conditions.”
- “Defendants were further negligent . . . and breached their duties by failing to conduct an adequate and timely search for Bonnie Walker; failing to warn Plaintiff of the hazards associated with the retention pond and circumstances foreseeably created if Bonnie Walker had entered the pond known to be inhabited by alligators, and otherwise failing to act to prevent the horrific discovery by Plaintiff of Bonnie Walker’s dismembered remains in the retention pond.”

(R. p. 8, ¶¶ 25, 27-29; p. 9 ¶ 30.f.-g.; p. 10, ¶¶ 33-36, 38). These allegations demonstrate the assertion of an independent duty owed to Weaver.

Appellants would have the Court read and interpret the Complaint as relating to Mrs. Walker’s injuries. However, this is legally impermissible: Liberally construing the Complaint in Weaver’s favor and presuming all well pled facts as true, Weaver alleges Appellants owed her an

independent duty of due care to adequately search for a missing resident so that a family member would not first find her in a horrific state, warn family members that it called to come search for a resident that she may be in an area on their property that is inhabited by alligators, and prevent family members it knew would search from a resident from finding her dismembered body. These are all allegations of a duty owed to Weaver and not to Mrs. Walker. They relate to the discovery of Mrs. Walker's body and not to the death itself. Therefore, the duties could not be owed to Mrs. Walker.

Appellants argue that any duty related to warning Weaver of the retention pond with alligators in it is owed to Mrs. Walker because Weaver does not allege she suffered any harm from the danger of the pond. (Br. of App. p. 18). This is factually and legally incorrect.⁴ Factually, Weaver does allege she suffered harm from the dangerous condition of the pond. She alleged Appellants failed to warn her “of the hazards associated with the retention pond and circumstances foreseeably created if Bonnie Walker had entered the pond known to be inhabited by alligators, and otherwise failing to act to prevent the horrific discovery by Plaintiff of Bonnie Walker’s dismembered remains in the retention pond.” (R. p. 10, ¶ 38). She further alleged she “was herself injured by discovering her grandmother’s dismembered body floating in the retention pond behind the facility.” *Id.* at ¶ 39. Legally, Appellants owed a duty to Weaver because they voluntarily undertook to call Mrs. Walker’s family and notify them of her disappearance with no knowledge as to her whereabouts. Appellants knew when Weaver arrived that Mrs. Walker was still missing and Weaver went to look for her. Under these circumstances, Appellants had a duty to reasonably conduct the search and warn Weaver about the existence and dangers of the retention pond. *See,*

⁴ Appellants cite to no law for this argument but assert only that it is “a matter of pure logic.” (Br. of App. p. 18).

e.g., *Vaughan v. Town of Lyman*, 370 S.C. 436, 446, 635 S.E.2d 631, 637 (2006) (“[A] duty to use due care may arise where an act is voluntarily undertaken.”); *Miller v. City of Camden*, 329 S.C. 310, 314, 494 S.E.2d 813, 815 (1997) (“If an act is voluntarily undertaken, [t]he actor assumes the duty to use due care.”).

Finally, Weaver’s negligence claim does not “in substance” assert a negligent infliction of emotional distress claim. (Br. of App. p. 18). A general negligence claim and negligent infliction of emotional distress claim have different elements of proof. *Compare Shaw v. City of Charleston*, 351 S.C. 32, 40, 567 S.E.2d 530, 534 (Ct. App. 2002) (“To establish a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must prove the following three elements: (1) a duty owed by defendant to plaintiff; (2) breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damages proximately resulting from the breach.”) *with Bray v. Marathon Corp.*, 356 S.C. 111, 115 n.4, 588 S.E.2d 93, 95 n.4 (2003) (listing the elements for negligent infliction of emotional distress as: “(1) the negligence of the defendant must cause death or serious physical injury to another; (2) the plaintiff bystander must be in close proximity to the accident; (3) the plaintiff and the victim must be closely related; (4) the plaintiff must contemporaneously perceive the accident; and (5) the emotional distress must both manifest itself by physical symptoms capable of objective diagnosis and be established by expert testimony”). These are distinct causes of action, and Weaver pled allegations to support them. That they may both involve an element of emotional damages does not make the assertion of the claims inappropriate.⁵ *See, e.g., Oaks at Rivers Edge Prop. Owners Ass’n v. Daniel*

⁵ Appellants argue in a footnote that South Carolina does not recognize a duty to warn a third party of danger. (Br. of App. p. 18 n. 3) (citing *Doe v. The Citadel*, 421 S.C. 140, 146, 805 S.E.2d 578, 581 (Ct. App. 2017)). This issue is not preserved because it was not raised to the lower court and is discussed only in a footnote on appeal. Regardless, the argument has no merit because Weaver is a first party to whom Appellants owed a duty and, alternatively, this case falls within two exceptions to the third party rule—“when the defendant voluntarily undertakes a duty [and] when the defendant intentionally or negligently creates the risk.” *Id.* at 146, 805 S.E.2d at 581.

Island Riverside Developers, LLC, 420 S.C. 424, 443, 803 S.E.2d 475, 485 (Ct. App. 2017) (“When an identical set of facts entitle the plaintiff to alternative remedies, he may plead and prove his entitlement to either or both; however, the plaintiff may not recover both.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

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